# WEST VIRGINIA INTERMEDIATE COURT OF APPEALS CHARLESTON, WEST VIRGINIA

ICA EFiled: Aug 30 2023 03:38PM EDT Transaction ID 70754874

KRISTY D. WINLAND,

Claimant Below, Petitioner,

v.

### CAMDEN-CLARK MEMORIAL HOSPITAL,

Employer Below, Respondents,

and

### WORKFORCE WEST VIRGINIA,

Respondent Below, Respondent.

B.O.R. Case No. R-2023-0245 (Workforce WV Board of Review)

### **PETITIONER'S BRIEF**

ANTHONY BRUNICARDI (WVSB #13593) WALT AUVIL (WVSB #190) KIRK AUVIL (WVSB #12953) Counsel for Claimant Below/Petitioner

The Employment Law Center, PLLC 1208 Market Street Parkersburg, WV 26101 (304) 485-3058

### **

I. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

Pursuant to W. Va. Code § 6C-2-5(b) a party may appeal the decision of the administrative

law judge on the grounds that the decision: (1) Is contrary to law or a lawfully adopted rule or

written policy of the employer; (2) Exceeds the administrative law judge's statutory authority; (3)

Is the result of fraud or deceit; (4) Is clearly wrong in view of the reliable, probative and substantial

evidence on the whole record; or (5) Is arbitrary or capricious or characterized by abuse of

discretion or clearly unwarranted exercise of discretion.

It is Petitioner's position that the Board of Review's decision below is clearly wrong in

view of the reliable, probative and substantial evidence on the whole record. The assignments of

error are included below:

1

- A. Here, the Board of Review reversed the underlying Administrative Law Judge (hereinafter "ALJ") Decision that ruled that the Claimant was terminated, not for misconduct, and was therefore entitled to unemployment benefits. (D.R. 0028-31). In its reversal of the ALJ's Decision, the Board of Review makes several determinations that are either not supported by the record or are the result of a mischaracterization of the testimony and events leading up to the Board of Review's Decision.
- B. The Board of Review mischaracterizes the facts surrounding the issue of why another follow-up drug test was not conducted and overlooks the fact that Petitioner's prescription drugs did not show up in her drug screen. In referring to the lack of a follow-up drug test, the Board of Review places blame on the Petitioner stating that it was her "unwillingness to take that course of action." (D.R. 0070). The Board of Review states that a review of the ALJ Hearing transcript reflects "that the claimant had an opportunity to commission a second test by a different laboratory, but declined to do so, apparently based upon her belief that the same would be invalid." (D.R. 0070).

This characterization of events is entirely misleading and not in line with the evidence in the record. In reality, Petitioner reached out to the physician to discuss the results of the drug test and found out that not only were there errors in the test that showed Petitioner was testing positive for drugs she had not taken, but her prescription drugs that she does take did not yield a positive result on the test, placing a great deal of concern as to the accuracy of the test and/or specimen that was tested. Petitioner was *not* given an opportunity to take another drug test, only to have the likely flawed specimen retested with Petitioner having to cover the cost. Petitioner testified that, "I would not want the same specimen sampled if it wasn't mine to begin with because it did not have my daily prescription of medication in it." (D.R. 0046). Further, Petitioner testified that on the day she

was notified of her termination that she reached out to Tanya and said, "I will come down right now and do a drug test for you right now, and that's when, you know, she declined and said that, you know, I was still going to be terminated, like, there was nothing she could do." (D.R. 0047). Even with the clear errors in the testing, Petitioner was never given the opportunity to take another drug test, only pay out of pocket to have the flawed specimen reexamined. The assigned ALJ that had the opportunity to hear evidence and question Petitioner during the hearing concluded that based on the evidence presented by both sides, that it was "less likely than not that the test is accurate based upon the evidence at hearing." (D.R. 0030).

- C. The Board of Review Decision makes no reference to the disputed text message that allegedly led to Petitioner's drug screening. (D.R. 0069-73). It is Respondent's argument that the text message that was allegedly sent from Petitioner to Respondent's former HR Representative is the reason that she was called in for a drug screening. Considering the burden of proof in this matter lies with the Respondent, it is more than troubling that the Board of Review makes no mention whatsoever as to the disputed nature of the text message, the ultimate reason provided by Respondent to conduct the screen. Rather, the Board of Review wrongly uses the disputed test results as an after the fact justification for the initial testing.
- D. In its Decision, the Board of Review incorrectly states that Petitioner made no explanation of the presence of fentanyl in her drug screen other than "her self-serving denial of using or taking the drug." (D.R. 0071). First of all, any testimony offered by Petitioner that was denying the accusations against her could be characterized as "self-serving," so Petitioner is not sure what the Board of Review is attempting to express in that statement. Secondly, the statement is simply not true. There is evidence throughout the record, including testimony from Petitioner in response to questions from her own attorney, the underlying ALJ, and Respondent's attorney, that

discuss in detail her reasons and evidence to believe that the drug screen showing a positive test for fentanyl was inaccurate, mainly by showing that the test could not be accurate if it does not show the actual prescription drugs that Petitioner takes on a daily basis. This clear error in the testing evidenced by her daily medications not being present on the screening are much more than "self-serving" denials of using the drug.

E. The Board of Review wrongly expands upon the West Virginia Legislature's meaning of "reporting to work under the influence of" within West Virginia Code §21A-6-3(2) without citing any authority supporting their interpretation. The applicable provisions of West Virginia Code §21A-6-3(2) references gross misconduct as including "reporting to work under the influence of any controlled substance, as defined in Chapter 60A of this code without a valid prescription." In its reversal of the ALJ's determination that the term "under the influence" implied some indication of impairment, the Board of Review asserts that "it cannot be reasonably construed that the Legislature intended impairment at work to be deemed to have occurred only when objective observations were made of impairment while an employee was at work." (D.R. 0070). The Board of Review's expansion in interpreting the Legislature's intent is improper and provides no authority as to why the ALJ's interpretation was unreasonable. As the underlying ALJ stated in his March 3, 2023, Order, "if the Legislature had wanted benefits denied in the event of a positive drug screen, it would have said so." (D.R. 0029). The Legislature purposefully worded the statute to require more than a mere positive screen. In dismissing the ALJ's argument, the Board of review simply states that the interpretation is flawed, again without citing any authority to support their belief. Accordingly, the Board of Review's reversal of the underlying ALJ's decision should be reversed.

#### II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This administrative appeal stems from an Order by the WORKFORCE West Virginia Board of Review (hereinafter, "Board of Review") that was entered on April 24, 2023. (D.R. 0069-73). Petitioner's claims are related to her application for unemployment compensation benefits following her termination from employment with Camden-Clark Memorial Hospital that occurred after a disputed, positive drug screen. Petitioner disputes the accuracy of the drug screen for numerous reasons including the presence of drugs that she had not taken as well as the fact that her actual daily prescription medications did not show up on the screen.

Petitioner initially received an award of full unemployment compensation benefits and a determination of "no misconduct" by the underlying Administrative Law Judge in this matter before the Decision was reversed by WORKFORCE West Virginia's Board of Review resulting in the forfeiture of Petitioner's unemployment compensation benefits and a finding that her termination was the result of "gross misconduct." (D.R. 0028-31); (D.R. 0069-73). Petitioner files this appeal seeking relief in the form of a full award of unemployment compensation benefits and a finding that her termination was the result of "no misconduct."

#### III. SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The Workforce West Virginia Board of Review made several errors in overturning the Decision of the Administrative Law Judge to award Petitioner full unemployment compensation benefits following her termination from Respondent, Camden-Clark Memorial Hospital. The errors made by the Board of Review were both factual and legal, resulting in Petitioner's award of unemployment compensation ultimately being overturned on appeal. Petitioner files the instant appeal in an attempt to correct any factual errors that were made and apply them to the correct

legal standards so that Petitioner can receive the unemployment compensation benefits she is entitled to.

#### IV. STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT AND DECISION

Pursuant to the criteria listed in Rule 18(a) of the West Virginia Rules of Appellate Procedure, Petitioner does not believe oral argument to be necessary in this case.

#### V. ARGUMENT

The Board of Review reversed the underlying Administrative Law Judge Decision that ruled that the Claimant was terminated, not for misconduct, and was therefore entitled to unemployment benefits. (D.R. 0069-73). For the following reasons, the Decision of the Board of Review should be Reversed and Petitioner should receive a full award of unemployment compensation benefits.

## A. The Decision of the Workforce West Virginia Board of Review is not supported by the facts and testimony available to the Board of Review at the time of its Decision.

In its reversal of the ALJ's Decision, the Board of Review makes several determinations that are either not supported by the record or are the result of a mischaracterization of the testimony and events leading up to the Board of Review's Decision. To support their characterization of the facts, the Board of Review applies weight to each allegation and factual response so that they can determine which parties argument is stronger. (D.R. 0070). This way of analyzing the claim may be appropriate if you properly apply the weight of the evidence based on information on the record, but the Board of Review strays from the record and even from the language used in West Virginia Code in their analysis. In doing so, the Board characterizes Petitioner's arguments as merely self-serving while expanding on legislation in order to justify the actions of Respondent despite the lack of any factual information provided by Respondent to support the allegation that Petitioner

used illegal substances while at work, other than the deeply flawed drug-screen that Petitioner offers strong evidence to combat.

### B. The Board of Review mischaracterizes the facts surrounding the issue of why Petitioner did not submit to a follow-up drug screen after her failed test.

In referring to the lack of a follow-up drug test, the Board of Review places blame on the Petitioner stating that it was her "unwillingness to take that course of action." (D.R. 0070). The Board of Review states that a review of the ALJ Hearing transcript reflects "that the claimant had an opportunity to commission a second test by a different laboratory, but declined to do so, apparently based upon her belief that the same would be invalid." (D.R. 0070).

This characterization of events is entirely misleading and not in line with the evidence in the record. In reality, Petitioner reached out to the physician to discuss the results of the drug test and found out that not only were there errors in the test that showed Petitioner was testing positive for drugs she had not taken, but her prescription drugs that she does take did not yield a positive result on the test, placing a great deal of concern as to the accuracy of the test and/or specimen that was tested. Petitioner was *not* given an opportunity to take another drug test, only to have the likely flawed specimen retested with Petitioner having to cover the cost. Petitioner testified that, "I would not want the same specimen sampled if it wasn't mine to begin with because it did not have my daily prescription of medication in it." (D.R. 0046-47). Further, Petitioner testified that on the day she was notified of her termination that she reached out to Tanya and said, "I will come down right now and do a drug test for you right now, and that's when, you know, she declined and said that, you know, I was still going to be terminated, like, there was nothing she could do." (D.R. 0047).

Even with the clear errors in the testing, Petitioner was never given the opportunity to take another drug test, only pay out of pocket to have the flawed specimen reexamined. The assigned ALJ that had the opportunity to hear evidence and question Petitioner during the hearing concluded that based on the evidence presented by both sides, that it was "less likely than not that the test is accurate based upon the evidence at hearing." (D.R. 0030). The Board of Review does nothing to dispute the ALJ's determination that the test was most-likely flawed, and instead dismisses the argument altogether without addressing the clear errors included in Petitioner's drug-screen results.

### C. The Board of Review makes no mention of the disputed text message that initiated the drug screen and ultimately led to Petitioner's termination.

It is Respondent's argument that the text message that was allegedly sent from Petitioner to Respondent's former HR Representative is the reason that she was called in for a drug screening in the first place. (D.R. 0011); (D.R. 0039). This is an employee with no previous employment issues who has at no time been alleged to have reported to work in the past showing any sort of visual impairment whatsoever. (D.R. 0040).

Importantly, the sending of this message by Petitioner to Respondent's former HR Representative has been disputed by Petitioner throughout the proceedings. Additionally, any interpretation made by Respondent as to the meaning of the disputed text message has also been denied by Petitioner.

Considering the burden of proof in this matter lies with the Respondent, it is more than troubling that the Board of Review makes no mention whatsoever as to the disputed nature of the text message, the ultimate reason provided by Respondent to conduct the screen. Rather, the Board of Review wrongly uses the disputed test results as an after the fact justification for the initial testing.

### D. The Board of Review incorrectly characterized Petitioner's explanation of the presence of fentanyl in her drug-screen.

In its Decision, the Board of Review incorrectly states that Petitioner made no explanation of the presence of fentanyl in her drug screen other than "her self-serving denial of using or taking the drug." (D.R. 0071).

First, any testimony offered by Petitioner that was denying the accusations against her could be characterized as "self-serving," so Petitioner is not sure what the Board of Review is attempting to express in that statement. Under this logic, any individual who is accused of any wrongdoing would have no way of disputing the allegations absent documentary evidence. Petitioner is not denying the use of fentanyl because the denial is "self-serving," she is denying using fentanyl because she has never used the drug and her under oath testimony requires that she tell the truth.

Secondly, the statement is simply not true. There is evidence throughout the record, including testimony from Petitioner in response to questions from her own attorney, the underlying ALJ, and Respondent's attorney, that discuss in detail her reasons and evidence to believe that the drug screen showing a positive test for fentanyl was inaccurate, mainly by showing that the test could not be accurate if it does not show the actual prescription drugs that Petitioner takes on a daily basis. (D.R. 34-48); (D.R. 0028-31).

The Board of Review brushes over the fact that Petitioner's daily prescription medications did not show up in her drug screen without providing any interpretation as to the accuracy of a drug-screen that fails to include medications that are taken daily by an individual. Instead of actually addressing the errors in the testing, the Board of Review places full blame for the flawed testing on Petitioner due to her unwillingness to have the same flawed specimen re-tested. (D.R.

0070). In doing so, the Board of Review acknowledges that the do not know if the test was accurate, but instead of requiring Respondent to provide evidence for why the drug-screen is accurate, they wrongly place the burden on Petitioner to prove the accuracy of the specimen. (D.R. 0070).

These clear errors in the testing evidenced by her daily medications not being present in the drug-screening are much more than "self-serving" denials of using the drug.

# E. The Board of Review wrongly expands upon the meaning of West Virginia Code §21A-6-3(2).

West Virginia Code §21A-6-3 provides the law regarding disqualification of unemployment compensation benefits. In Section 2 of Chapter 21A, Article 6, the West Virginia Legislature provides that "Gross Misconduct" includes "reporting to work under the influence of any controlled substance, as defined in chapter 60A of this code without a valid prescription, or being under the influence of any controlled substance, as defined in said chapter without a valid prescription, while at work." As interpreted by the underlying ALJ in his Decision, "if the West Virginia Legislature wanted benefits denied in the event of a positive drug screen, it would have said so. (D.R. 0029). The phrase "under the influence" implies some indication of impairment." (D.R. 0029).

Rather than reviewing the language in West Virginia Code and applying it as written, the Board of Review decides to take it upon themselves to expand upon the meaning of this section and come up with their own interpretation as to why the Legislature used the language they did. The Board of Review dismisses the underlying ALJ argument and expands upon the legislation by arguing that "it cannot be reasonably construed that the Legislature intended impairment at work to be deemed to have occurred only when objective observations were made while an employee

was at work." (D.R. 0070). The Board of Review then explains what a reasonable interpretation of the legislation is in their view, stating that "it is reasonable to conclude that an employee reported to work under the influence of a controlled substance if a drug screen taken in close proximity in time to the claimant's work hours and reflects a positive result for controlled substances, for which an employee did not have a valid prescription." (D.R. 0070). A quick reading of the legislation compared to the Board of Review's interpretation shows the obvious flaws in the Board's interpretation. Not only does this interpretation not follow the clear language included in West Virginia Code §21A-6-3(2), but it does nothing to address the fact that Petitioner is outright denying the accuracy of the specimen and/or testing.

Despite the fact that Petitioner does not believe that it is necessary based off of the language included within West Virginia Code, in order to fully address the Board of Review's Decision, she expands upon the allegations to show the flawed reasoning applied in the Board's Decision. Even if the drug-screen did not show numerous errors, as it does, the presence of fentanyl in Petitioner's drug-screen raises immediate questions of accuracy based off of the lack of any observable impairment shown by Petitioner. Fentanyl is not the type of drug that individuals take casually and go about their day with no signs of impairment. Fentanyl is an extremely dangerous, addictive, and powerful drug that causes extreme levels of impairment that would be highly noticeable especially in the employment setting where an individual is having to keep up with demanding tasks. As the record supports, Petitioner never showed any indication of impairment whatsoever and had no issues with her job performance. (D.R. 0034-48). This fact coupled with the clear errors in the drug-screen not showing Petitioner's daily medications is enough to support the conclusion that the drug-screen is more likely than not flawed.

#### VI. CONCLUSION

The Workforce West Virginia Board of Review decision to disqualify Petitioner from receiving any unemployment compensation benefits is not supported by the facts of this case or the applicable West Virginia Legislation. Accordingly, due to the legal and factual errors made by the Workforce West Virginia Board of Review, the underlying decision should be REVERSED, and Petitioner should be awarded full benefits in accordance with West Virginia Code §21A-6-1.