IN THE INTERMEDIATE COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA 08:33PM EDT Transaction ID 71110879

KRISTY D. WINLAND,

PETITIONER (Claimant Below),

v.

Case No. 23-ICA-199 (Case No: R-2023-0245)

CAMDEN-CLARK MEMORIAL HOSPITAL,

RESPONDENT (Employer Below),

&

WORKFORCE WEST VIRGINIA,

RESPONDENT (Respondent Below).

SUMMARY RESPONSE FILED ON BEHALF OF RESPONDENT WORKFORCE WEST VIRGINIA

Kimberly A. Levy, Attorney III WorkForce West Virginia Bldg. 3, Suite 300 1900 Kanawha Blvd. East Charleston, WV 25305 304.558.3403 WV State Bar I.D. No: 4603 Kimberly.Levy@wv.gov

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

 The Board of Review correctly reversed the decision of the Administrative Law Judge and determined that the Petitioner's termination from employment resulted from Petitioner's gross misconduct.

W. Va. Code § 21A-6-3, (2020), in pertinent part provides:

Upon the determination of the facts by the commissioner, an individual is disqualified for benefits:

(2) For the week in which he or she was discharged from his or her most recent work for misconduct and the six weeks immediately following that week; or for the week in which he or she was discharged from his or her last 30-day employing unit for misconduct and the six weeks immediately following that week. The disgualification carries a reduction in the maximum benefit amount equal to six times the individual's weekly benefit. However, if the claimant returns to work in covered employment for 30 days during his or her benefit year, whether or not the days are consecutive, the maximum benefit amount is increased by the amount of the decrease imposed under the disqualification; except that: If he or she were discharged from his or her most recent work for one of the following reasons, or if he or she were discharged from his or her last 30 days employing unit for one of the following reasons: Gross misconduct consisting of willful destruction of his or her employer's property; assault upon the person of his or her employer or any employee of his or her employer; if the assault is committed at the individual's place of employment or in the course of employment; reporting to work in an intoxicated condition, or being intoxicated while at work; reporting to work under the influence of any controlled substance, as defined in chapter 60A of this code without a valid prescription, or being under the influence of any controlled substance, as defined in said chapter without a valid prescription, while at work; adulterating or otherwise manipulating a sample or specimen in order to thwart a drug or alcohol test lawfully required of an employee; refusal to submit to random testing for alcohol or illegal controlled substances for employees in safety-sensitive positions as defined in §21-1D-2 of this code; violation of an employer's drug-free workplace program; violation of an employer's alcohol-free workplace program; arson, theft, larceny, fraud, or embezzlement in connection with his or her work; or any other gross misconduct, he or she is disgualified for benefits until he or she has thereafter worked for at least 30 days in covered employment: Provided, That for the purpose of this subdivision, the words "any other gross misconduct" includes, but is not limited to, any act or acts of misconduct where the individual has received prior written warning that termination of employment may result from the act or acts.

•••

The issue is whether Petitioner's reporting to work under the influence of illegal drugs constituted gross misconduct. If so, the Deputy was correct in holding that the Petitioner was disqualified from the receipt of unemployment compensation benefits until she had returned to covered employment and had worked at least thirty (30) days in covered employment. The administrative law judge reversed the Deputy's decision. The Board of Review reversed the decision of the administrative law judge, in effect restoring the decision of the Deputy. Respondent WorkForce contends that the decision of the Board of Review is correct and soundly based upon the evidence of the record. Accordingly it should be affirmed by this Court.

The evidence of the record indicates that the Petitioner was a registered nurse and worked in a safety-sensitive position caring for patients in the former Employer's Women's and Children's Unit. A former employee, Paul Schindler, had received a text sent by the Petitioner by mistake. Mr. Schindler, a former employee, called the Employer and forwarded the text to the former Employer's human resources department. This text is, frankly, a request for assistance in locating illegal street drugs. Based upon this text, the human resources department made a decision to request the Petitioner to submit to drug testing or screening on her next scheduled work day which was December 16, 2022. Respondent WorkForce West Virginia contends that this text provided reasonable grounds for requiring Petitioner to submit to a drug test under existing case law.

The West Virginia Supreme Court of Appeals held that drug testing will not be found to be violative of public policy grounded in the potential intrusion of a person's right to privacy where it is conducted by an employer based upon reasonable good faith

objective suspicion of an employee's drug usage or while an employee's job responsibility involves public safety or the safety of others. Syllabus Point 2, <u>Twigg v.</u> <u>Hercules Corp.</u>, 185 W.Va. 155, 406 S.E.2d 52 (1990). Further, the United States Court of Appeals, Fifth Circuit, has held that reasonable suspicion represents a low threshold requiring some minimal level of objective justification for requiring testing. See <u>U.S. v.</u> <u>Castillo</u>, 804 F.3d 361, 367 (5th Cir. 2015). Finally, the United States Supreme Court has held that, "Although a mere hunch does not create reasonable suspicion, the level of suspicion the standard requires is considerably less than proof of wrongdoing by a preponderance of the evidence, and obviously less than is necessary for probable cause." <u>Navarette v. California</u>, 134 S. Ct. 1683, 1687 (2014) (citations and internal quotation marks omitted).

When the Petitioner reported to work on December 16, 2022, she was met by her manager and escorted to an employee health center. She underwent the drug screening at this center at 7:16 A.M. The initial results were "not negative" and the Petitioner's urine sample was sent to an off-site laboratory for additional testing. The results from this testing reflected the presence of the following drugs in the Petitioner's urine sample: Amphetamine; D-Methamphetamine; Fentanyl; L-Methamphetamine; Methamphetamine; Norfentanyl; and Norfentanyl (Fentanyl Metabolite).

The administrative law judge found that there was no proof that the Petitioner was "under the influence" of any controlled substance without a valid prescription as no testimony was offered regarding any external symptoms such as rapid or rambling speech or larger than usual pupils in the eyes on December 16, 2022, and held that if the West Virginia Legislature had intended a positive drug screen to result in the denial

of unemployment compensation benefits, "it would have said so."²⁶ The administrative law judge acknowledged the positive drug screen, but deemed the test unreliable. "However, it is less likely than not that the test is accurate based upon the evidence at the hearing. The claimant's prescription may create a false positive. The lack of other prescriptions showing up in the results also creates suspicion."²⁷

The Board of Review reversed the administrative law judge, stating that "[i]t cannot be reasonably construed that the Legislature intended impairment at work to be deemed to have occurred only when objective observations were made of impairment while an employee was at work.²⁸ The Board of Review held, "[i]t is reasonable to conclude that an employee reported to work under the influence of a controlled substances if a drug screen taken in close proximity in time to the claimant's work hours and reflects a positive results for controlled substances, for which an employee did not have a valid prescription."²⁹

The Board's finding and holding is a more reasoned approach and corresponds to <u>W. Va. Code</u> §21A-6-3(2) (2020), which states, in part, "Gross misconduct consisting ... reporting to work under the influence of any controlled substance, as defined in chapter 60A of this code without a valid prescription...". Amphetamine, methamphetamine, fentanyl, and Norfentanyl are currently listed as Schedule II drugs in <u>W. Va. Code</u> §60A-2-206. The Petitioner testified that she had a valid prescription for an amphetamine and an unidentified benzodiazepine, but did not for fentanyl. She did not testify whether she had a valid prescription for either methamphetamine or

²⁶ D.R. 0029

²⁷ D.R. 0030

²⁸ D.R. 0070

²⁹ D.R. 0070

Norfentanyl. The former Employer tested the Petitioner immediately upon her arrival at work on December 16, 2022. As this drug screen was conducted immediately after the Petitioner's arrival at work on that date, it reflects that the Petitioner was under the influence of the drugs that she tested positive for when she arrived for work on that date.

The Petitioner also contends that the Board of Review's decision is incorrect as it did not address the text received by Mr. Schindler, a former employee, who then forwarded the text to the former Employer's human resources department. This text provided reasonable suspicion to the former Employer that the Petitioner was seeking illegal drugs. Moreover, the Petitioner held a safety-sensitive decision. Either factor was sufficient to warrant obtaining a drug screen from the Petitioner. See <u>Twigg v.</u> <u>Hercules Corp.</u>, 185 W.Va. 155, 406 S.E.2d 52 (1990).

Finally, the Petitioner attempts to argue that the urine test was invalid as it allegedly failed to list a benzodiazepine identified as Clorazepate that was allegedly prescribed to her. The drug screen does not list Clorazepate as a tested drug. However, there are other explanations for the reason why the Petitioner's benzodiazepine did not show as a positive in her drug screen such as the simple fact that the Petitioner may not have taken the benzodiazepine sufficiently ahead of time for it to show as a positive on her drug screen. Although the Petitioner objects to characterizing her excuses as "self-serving", that is exactly what they are. With nothing more than her assertions, she attempts to explain away the fact that she was tested and found positive for a number of illegal drugs. The Board of Review was correct in finding these assertions to be unconvincing.

The Petitioner also asserts that the Board of Review erred in not showing deference to the administrative law judge's decision. Respondent contends that this is one of those instances where the decision of the administrative law judge is not due such deference.

The Supreme Court of Appeals of West Virginia examined "...the rare circumstance wherein application of the requisite deference is not supported by common sense" in the memorandum decision in <u>Smith v. Board of Education of Berkeley County</u>, No: 14-0851 (W. Va. May 15, 2015). In this decision the Court reviewed a circuit court's reversal of the Board of Review's decision that the claimant therein was not disqualified from the receipt of unemployment compensation benefits. The claimant, a public school teacher, is alleged to have instigated an incident which caused a fellow teacher to become so ill that medical care was needed. In this case, the circuit court had reviewed the record before the Board of Review and the transcript of the claimant's disciplinary hearing before the county board of education and subsequently reversed the decision of the Board of Review and disqualified the claimant on the grounds of gross misconduct. In its review of the circuit court's decision, the Court cited <u>Wells v. Tenn. Bd. of Regents</u>, 9 S.W.3d 779, 783-784 (Tenn.1999), which states, in part,

"In contrast, appellate review of documentary proof, such as depositions or other forms of testimony presented to the trial court in a "cold" record, differs considerably. When reviewing documentary proof, all impressions of weight and credibility are drawn from the contents of the evidence, and not from the appearance of witnesses and oral testimony at trial [Citations omitted.]"

In the memorandum decision in <u>Williamson v. Independence Coal Co.</u>, No: 12-0885 (W. Va. May 24, 2013), the Supreme Court of Appeals of West Virginia reviewed a circuit court decision that affirmed the decision by the Board of Review to deny unemployment compensation benefits to the claimant therein on the grounds that she was discharged due to an act of gross misconduct. The deputy and the administrative law judge found that the claimant was discharged due to simple misconduct. The Court affirmed the circuit court decision finding that the administrative law judge had not considered the claimant's failures to observe the employer's safety policy and the claimant's history of not cooperating with her co-workers and supervisors. The Court found that the:

> ALJ's finding of no misconduct is entitled to less deference" and held, "[t]he deference accorded ... [a] factfinder may evaporate if upon review of its findings the appellate court determines that (1) a relevant factor that should have been given significant weight is not considered...". *Id at 4.*

The Board of Review did not err in its evaluation of the instant case. Its decision to reverse the decision of the administrative law judge and to hold that the Petitioner had committed gross misconduct is sound. Petitioner makes a number of arguments, but they all fail for reasons elucidated above. However, the Respondent will briefly cover those points again for the sake of completeness.

Petitioner's first assignment of error is that the decision of the Board of Review was not based on the evidence of the record. However, as seen above, all of the record supports the decision of the Board of Review except Petitioner's contentions that the test was inaccurate or flawed. No reasonable person would ignore the mountain of evidence in favor of unsubstantiated denials. Petitioner's second assignment of error is that the Board of Review mischaracterized the factual circumstances surrounding the Petitioner's refusal to have a follow-up drug screen of the remaining sample. While not admitting that the Board of Review mischaracterized the evidence, Respondent asserts that is more or less irrelevant. The only thing that matters is that Petitioner was given the opportunity to have the remaining sample tested and she, for reasons of her own, declined.

The Petitioner's third assignment of error is that the Board of Review made no mention of the disputed text forwarded to the former Employer by Mr. Schindler. Again, this is irrelevant. The text merely established that the former Employer met the low burden of providing a reasonable basis for it to suspect the Petitioner of illegal drug use and to require Petitioner to take the drug test. The text itself was not necessary as proof of Petitioner's illegal drug use. That role is played by the result of the drug test.

The Petitioner's fourth assignment of error is that Respondent mischaracterizes the Petitioner's explanation of why fentanyl was found in her drug screen. Again, the important fact is that that and other drugs were found in the drug screen and Petitioner's explanations have no other basis than her self-serving assertions.

The Petitioner's fifth assignment of error is that the Board of Review wrongly expands the definition of "under the influence". For the reasons given above, Respondent contends that the Board of Review correctly and logically interpreted the statute rather than expanding it.

CONCLUSION

Respondent contends that the determination of the Board of Review in reversing the decision of the administrative law judge and holding that the Petitioner had been

discharged due to an act of gross misconduct is not erroneous. This decision is based soundly on the evidence of the record. The Board of Review correctly interpreted the meaning of the term "under the influence" The deference normally accorded to factual findings of the administrative law judge was lessened or evaporated when the administrative law judge failed to take relevant facts into consideration, i.e., the fact that illegal drugs were revealed in Petitioner's drug screen while she was at work and that this meets the definition of "under the influence". The Board of Review did not err when it held that the Petitioner had been discharged for an act of gross misconduct in light of the facts of the entire record. Therefore, Petitioner respectfully requests this Court to affirm the decision of the Board of Review and to deny the Petitioner's appeal.

By Counsel